Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

4-28-2014

State v. Nichols Appellant's Brief Dckt. 38123

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Timothy Nichols asks the Idaho Supreme Court to review the opinion of the Idaho Court of Appeals, 2014 Opinion No. 6 (Ct. App. February 24, 2014) (*hereinafter*, Opinion). He asks that this Court grant his petition for review because this case deals with issues of first impression and because the underlying opinion by the Idaho Court of Appeals is likely in conflict with prior precedent from this Court.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

Mr. Nichols was charged by information with statutory rape. (R., pp.17-18.) Thereafter, the State filed a motion in limine with the district court seeking to preclude Mr. Nichols from raising any defense to this charge with regard to either mistake of age or consent. (R., pp.33-36.) The State asserted that any such defenses would be irrelevant to the charge of statutory rape under I.R.E. 401 in light of Idaho case law that indicated that neither mistake of age or consent can stand as a defense to an allegation of rape pursuant to I.C. § 18-6101(1). (R., pp.33-36.)

At the hearing on the State's motion in limine, Mr. Nichols addressed two sets of concerns with regard to his case: first, he asserted that he should be allowed to raise the defenses of good faith mistake as to age and consent against the charge of statutory rape; and second, Mr. Nichols asserted that his case presented a *corpus delicti* issue if the alleged victim did not testify at trial. (Tr., p.8, L.10 – p.18, L.15.) However, because Mr. Nichols was not personally present for this hearing, the district court delayed any ruling on these issues. (Tr., p.6, L.11 – p.7, L.24, p.18, L.17 – p.19, L.7.)

Following this hearing, the State submitted two sets of briefing – one addressing the issue of *corpus delicti* and one providing supplemental authority regarding the potential defenses at trial of consent and/or mistake of age. (R., pp.46-52.) Regarding the *corpus delicti* issue, the State asserted that the testimony of the alleged victim was not necessary in order to establish the *corpus delicti* of the offense in this case. (R., pp.46-47.) But the only "corroboration" of Mr. Nichols' confession offered up by the State was that he was living with the alleged victim at the time that a police officer was

dispatched to his home¹ and that the alleged victim's mother stated to police that she came to Idaho from her home in Washington State in order to retrieve the alleged victim. (R., p.47.)

Regarding Mr. Nichols' intent to claim consent and/or reasonable mistake regarding age as a defense, the State asserted that the primary case relied upon by Mr. Nichols in his argument, *Lawrence v. Texas*, was inapposite to his claim because the *Lawrence* Opinion's holding was expressly limited to private, consensual encounters between adults. (R., pp.49-51.) The State also provided the district court with case law from other jurisdictions reaching a similar conclusion. (R., pp.50-51.)

The district court took up the issues relating to the State's motion in limine on the day of trial. The court granted the State's motion in limine to preclude Mr. Nichols from raising any defense as to good faith mistake regarding the alleged victim's age, or raising any defense of consent. (Tr., p.26, L.21 – p.31, L.5.) However, the court did not address the issue previously raised by Mr. Nichols regarding the absence of any evidence or corroboration of the *corpus delicti* of the charged offense aside from his confession. (Tr., p.26, L.21 – p.31, L.15.)

The State presented only three witnesses at trial. The first was Melody Fairfax, K.F.'s adopted mother. (Tr., p.50, L.3 – p.51, L.6.) Ms. Fairfax was not present when K.F. was born. (Tr., p.51, Ls.14-19.) She was only told that K.F. was approximately 10 months old when Ms. Fairfax adopted K.F.; and she further testified that, as part of the

¹ This Court may wish to note that this purported "corroboration" – i.e. that K.F. and Mr. Nichols were living together - was itself only evinced by Mr. Nichols' statements and confession to law enforcement, and therefore this would not constitute "corroboration" of the same confession.

adoption process, she was given a birth certificate for K.F. that listed her date and place of birth. (Tr., p.51, L.3 – p.52, L.18.) Mr. Nichols objected to the testimony regarding K.F.'s birth date on hearsay grounds, but the district court originally held that this was not hearsay. (Tr., p.53, Ls.2-22.)

Ms. Fairfax also testified that K.F. was diagnosed with schizoaffective disorder and Asperger's Syndrome. (Tr., p.54, Ls.1-9.) Unfortunately, K.F. apparently would refuse to take her medications for these conditions and frequently ran away from home. (Tr., p.54, Ls.10-17.) K.F. had apparently run away from home prior to being found at Mr. Nichols' residence in Idaho. (Tr., p.54, L.18 – p.56, L.7.) In fact, at the time of trial K.F. had again run away from home and her whereabouts were unknown. (Tr., p.57, Ls.5-6.) By Ms. Fairfax's estimation, K.F. had run away from home between 15-20 times in the past. (Tr., p.66, L.25 – p.67, L.8.) Ms. Fairfax further testified that she was at the point where she refused to report K.F. as missing to law enforcement given her history for running away. (Tr., p.66, L.25 – p.67, L.8.)

The second witness for the State was Detective Ty Larsen, who was a detective with the Mountain Home police department. (Tr., p.68, L.22 – p.69, L.23.) Detective Larsen testified that he contacted Mr. Nichols after receiving a report that Mr. Nichols might be living with a potential runaway. (Tr., p.70, L.8 – p.71, L.4.) Upon being contacted, Mr. Nichols agreed to come in to the police station for an interview. (Tr., p.71, Ls.15-22.)

According to the officer, Mr. Nichols admitted that he and K.F. were residing together in a two-bedroom apartment for about one month. (Tr., p.85, L.25 – p.86, L.22.) Mr. Nichols stated to the officer that he had come to Idaho from Washington

state, and that K.F. had moved with him. He further allegedly admitted that he and K.F. were involved in a dating relationship. (Tr., p.86, L.23 – p.87, L.18.)

Detective Larsen provided the only testimony at all during the trial that indicated any sexual relationship between K.F. and Mr. Nichols, and this came solely from Mr. Nichols' alleged confessions to the officer. The detective testified that Mr. Nichols admitted to engaging in sexual intercourse as part of this dating relationship. (Tr., p.88, L.8 – 89, L.8.) But Detective Larsen never verified at all that the two were, in fact, living together in Idaho. (Tr., p.94, L.24 – p.95, L.8.)

The final witness presented by the State was another police officer – Officer Humberto Fuentes, also with the Mountain Home police department. (Tr., p.98, L.22 – p.99, L.2.) Officer Fuentes was the officer who first responded to a dispatch regarding a potential runaway. (Tr., p.100, L.18 – p.101, L.2.) When the officer arrived at Mr. Nichols' house, he observed Mr. Nichols and K.F. sitting underneath a tree in the front yard of the residence. (Tr., p.103, Ls.5-9.) K.F. appeared to be upset and crying, and Mr. Nichols was trying to comfort her. (Tr., p.103, Ls.12-17.) Officer Fuentes talked to Mr. Nichols, who allegedly told the officer that he and K.F. resided at the apartment together and had moved there from Washington. (Tr., p.103, L.24 – p.105, L.6.) After confirming that K.F. was a runaway, Officer Fuentes placed her in custody and called her mother. (Tr., p.107, L.19 – p.109, L.22.)

The officer never saw any identification from K.F. that listed a birth date and had no personal knowledge of her age. (Tr., p.111, Ls.3-19.)

After the testimony of Officer Fuentes, Mr. Nichols moved the district court pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 29 (hereinafter, Rule 29) for a judgment of acquittal on

the basis that the State had failed to establish the *corpus delicti* of the charged offense. (Tr., p.116, L.10 – p.123, L.5.) The district court denied this motion and held that no independent proof of intercourse was actually required in order to establish the *corpus delicti* of the charged offense. (Tr., p.120, L.14 – p.123, L.5.) And so the jury was never instructed regarding *corpus delicti*. (Tr., p.133, L.9 – p.140, L.22.)

The district court did provide a non-pattern jury instruction with regard to the statutory elements of statutory rape in Idaho. (Tr., p.135, L.13 – p.136, L.1.) However, the court's instruction failed to inform the jurors that they had to find that Mr. Nichols had penetrated K.F. with his penis – they merely instructed the jurors that any finding of vaginal penetration would suffice. (Tr., p.135, L.13 – p.136, L.1.)

During closing arguments, the prosecutor made several statements characterizing the testimony that was provided at trial. In the process, the prosecutor misstated the testimony of both Detective Larsen and Officer Fuentes, referring to facts that were not in evidence at trial. With regard to Detective Larsen, the prosecutor stated that the detective had testified that Mr. Nichols and K.F. had "both slept in one bed," in the same room during the time that K.F. was alleged to have lived with Mr. Nichols. (Tr., p.146, L.22.) As to Officer Fuentes' testimony, the prosecutor told the jury that:

During the course or based upon what he learned from the interview with [K.F.], he felt that something wasn't right. And because he felt something wasn't right about what he heard, he then passed his report on to the detective division so further investigation could be performed.

(Tr., p.143, Ls.15-21.) Contrary to the representations of the State, Officer Fuentes never testified about feeling "something wasn't right," based upon the statements of K.F.

The jury convicted Mr. Nichols of statutory rape. (Tr., p.164, L.16 - p.167, L.5; R., p.68.) After the trial had already concluded, the district court returned to its earlier

ruling with regard to K.F.'s mother's testimony regarding K.F.'s date of birth. (R., p.73.) Although acknowledging that, at trial, the court had characterized this testimony as "not hearsay," the district court amended this conclusion and instead found that this testimony fell within an exception to the hearsay rule. (R., p.73.) Specifically, the court found that this testimony fell within the exception for reputation concerning personal or family history provided under I.R.E. 803(19). (R., p.73.) The district court entered its memorandum regarding this ruling apparently in order to "augment" the court's prior ruling. (R., p.73.)

The district court sentenced Mr. Nichols to 10 years, with two years fixed, and retained jurisdiction over his case. (4/2/10 Tr., p.33, L.4 – p.34, L.1; R., pp.90-92.) Prior to the expiration of the district court's period of retained jurisdiction, the court relinquished jurisdiction over Mr. Nichols' case and executed his sentence without reduction. (Tr., p.208, Ls.12-18; R., pp.113-114.) Thereafter, Mr. Nichols filed a timely Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (hereinafter, Rule 35) motion seeking a reduction of his sentence, which was denied by the district court without a hearing. (Motion for Correction or Reduction of Sentence, Augment; Memorandum Decision on Defendant's Motion for Reduction of Sentence, Augment.) Mr. Nichols timely appealed from the district court's order re-imposing his sentence and relinquishing jurisdiction. (R., pp.116-119.)

During the pendency of this appeal, this Court granted the State's petition for review in *State v. Suriner*² and further granted Mr. Nichols' motion to stay appellate proceedings pending a decision from this Court regarding the *corpus delicti* issue in that

² State v. Suriner, 154 Idaho 81 (2013).

case. Thereafter, in a published opinion, the Idaho Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Nichols' judgment of conviction and sentence for statutory rape. (Opinion, pp.1-18.) This petition for review timely followed.

<u>ISSUES</u>

- 1. Should this Court grant Mr. Nichols' petition for review?
- 2. Did the district court err when it denied Mr. Nichols' Rule 29 motion seeking a judgment of acquittal because the State presented insufficient evidence to establish the *corpus delicti* independent of Mr. Nichols' confessions and statements?
- 3. Did the district court err when it permitted the introduction of inadmissible hearsay in order to establish the age of the alleged victim in this case?
- 4. Did the district court's jury instructions in this case impermissibly lower the State's burden of proof, and therefore constitute fundamental error, when the district court provided an elements instruction for the offense of statutory rape that omitted an essential element and when the district court failed to sua sponte instruct the jury regarding corpus delicti?
- 5. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct, rising to the level of a fundamental error, when the prosecutor misstated the testimony provided at trial and introduced facts not in evidence for the jury's consideration during closing arguments?

ARGUMENT

1.

This Court Should Grant Mr. Nichols Petition For Review And Reverse His Judgment Of Conviction For Statutory Rape In Light Of The Errors That Occurred At His Trial

Although left unaddressed by the Idaho Court of Appeals' opinion, Mr. Nichols' case presents an important issue that is left unresolved by that opinion: whether this Court's prior ruling in *Suriner*, which abolished the *corpus delicti* rule in Idaho, can be retroactively applied to those defendants whose trials occurred prior to the issuance of that decision. (See Opinion, p.3 n.3 (indicating that the Court of Appeals would not resolve this issue in light of its disposition that sufficient proof of corroboration existed at trial).) Mr. Nichols asks that this Court grant his petition for review and clarify that, under due process principles, this Court's ruling in *Suriner* eliminating the *corpus delicti* rule, is prospective in application.

It is well established that the constitutional prohibition against *ex post facto* laws precludes a legislative enactment from being applied retroactively to a criminal defendant where that action, among other things, operates so as to alter the legal rules of evidence so as to receive different or less testimony than the law required at the time of the commission of the alleged offense. *See, e.g., Carmell v. Texas*, 529 U.S. 513, 521-522 (2000); *Collins v. Youngblood*, 497 U.S. 37, 41-42 (1990). Although the *ex post facto* clauses of the State and federal constitutions apply by their terms only to legislative enactments and provisions, the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides similar protections with regard to judicial actions that operate in a similar manner. *Marks v. United States*, 430 U.S. 188, 191-192 (1977). This due process protection emanates from the Fifth Amendment of the United States

Constitution, and "is based on the notion that persons have the right to fair warning of that conduct which will give rise to criminal penalties." *Id.*; see also State v. Shackelford, 150 Idaho 355, 374 n.8 (2010).

The United States Supreme Court made this clear in *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347 (1964). In *Bouie*, the Court held that, "[t]here can be no doubt that a deprivation of the right of fair warning can result not only from vague statutory language but also from an unforeseeable and retroactive judicial expansion of narrow and precise statutory language." *Bouie*, 378 U.S. at 352. The *Bouie* Court further expanded on the nature of such a due process violation when a reviewing court unexpectedly alters the common law to a defendant's detriment:

Indeed, an unforeseeable judicial enlargement of a criminal statute, applied retroactively, operates precisely like an ex post facto law, such as Art. I, § 10, of the Constitution forbids. An ex post facto law has been defined by this Court as one "that makes an action done before the passing of the law, and which was innocent when done, criminal; and which punishes such action" or "that aggravates a crime, or makes it greater than it was, when committed." If a state legislature is barred by the Ex Post Facto Clause from passing such a law, it must follow that a State Supreme Court is barred by the Due Process Clause from achieving precisely the same result by judicial construction. The fundamental principle that "the required criminal law must have existed when the crime occurred" must apply to bar retroactive criminal prohibitions emanating from courts as well as from legislatures. If a judicial construction of a criminal statute is "unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct in issue," it must not be given retroactive effect.

Id. at 353-354 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

Subsequent to *Bouie*, the United States Supreme Court recognized that this due process protection extends not only to judicial interpretations of statutes, but also to judicial alterations of protections that existed only at common law. *See Rogers v. Tennessee*, 532 U.S. 451 (2001). The Court in *Rogers* held that a judicial alteration of

the prior existing common law cannot be retroactively applied under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment where that alteration is "unexpected and indefensible by reference to the law which had been expressed prior to the conduct at issue." *Id.* at 462. In making this determination, the *Rogers* Court looked to factors such as whether the common law at issue retained current justification for its on-going existence, whether it had been given meaningful effect in prior decisions (as opposed to being mentioned in passing and as dicta), whether the common law rule involved a substantive right, and whether the alteration of the reviewing court was consistent with the actions undertaken in other jurisdictions. *Id.* at 462-467.

Although the standard articulated in *Rogers* with regard to when a due process violation is established is broad in its sweep, the prior Opinion in *Bouie* — which formed the basis for the *Rogers* Opinion — provides clearer guidance. In *Bouie*, the U.S. Supreme Court clarified that, "[w]hen a state court **overrules a consistent line of procedural decisions** with the retroactive effect of denying a litigant a hearing in a pending case, it thereby deprive him of due process of law 'in its primary sense of an opportunity to be heard and to defend (his) substantive right." *Bouie*, 378 U.S. at 354 (quoting *Brinkerhoff-Faris Trust and Sav. Co. v. Hill*, 281 U.S. 673, 678 (1930)) (emphasis added). In other words, where there is an established line of case law wherein a substantive right has been recognized by the courts, an abrupt departure from this consistent set of holdings cannot be retroactively applied to a criminal defendant under the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment. *See Lancaster v. Metrish*, 683 F.3d 740, 744 (6th Cir. 2012).

It was this standard that led the Supreme Court of Colorado to conclude that its judicial abrogation of the *corpus delicti* requirement could not be applied retroactively under due process principles. In *People v. LaRosa*, the Supreme Court of Colorado had occasion to revisit the on-going viability of the *corpus delicti* rule in the context of a case where the only corroboration of a defendant's confession of sexual assault was the opportunity for the defendant to have committed the offense. *People v. LaRosa*, 293 P.3d 567, 570-579 (Colo. 2013). After a discussion of the roots of the *corpus delicti* rule under the Colorado common law, the Colorado Supreme Court ultimately abandoned this rule in favor of a more general trustworthiness standard. *Id.* However, this did not end the discussion regarding the disposition of the *LaRosa* case: the Colorado Supreme Court still had to resolve whether this alteration could be applied retroactively under the Due Process Clause.

The *LaRosa* Court determined that it could not. In *LaRosa*, the Court first distinguished the abolition of the *corpus delicti* rule from the common law rule at issue in the *Rogers* Opinion. *LaRosa*, 293 P.3d at 578-579. In particular, the *LaRosa* Court noted that the common law rule at issue in *Rogers* was characterized as a "substantive principle" of law, "in name only because it had never been enforced" in any state court decision, and "had never served as a ground of decision in any homicide prosecution in the State and had only been mentioned in three cases, each time in dicta." *Id.* at 579 (quoting *Rogers*, 532 U.S. at 464). Although recognizing that the *corpus delicti* rule had been subject to some criticism, the Colorado Supreme Court nevertheless recognized that the rule had been in actual force in several jurisdictions, including the court's own prior decisions. *Id.* In fact, the *LaRosa* Court noted that the *corpus delicti*

rule had been the substantive law in Colorado for over one hundred years. *Id.* Accordingly, because overturning this rule was a clear, and therefore unexpected, break from well-established case law, the Court in *LaRosa* held that it would violate due process to apply the elimination of this rule to those whose convictions arose prior to its decision. As such, the Court in *LaRosa* reversed the defendant's conviction. *Id.*

Similarly, the Supreme Court of Utah has also held that it would be unconstitutional to apply the elimination of its common law *corpus delicti* rule retroactively to those whose offenses arose prior to the court's decision. *See State v. Mauchley*, 67 P.3d 477 (Utah 2003). Moreover, the conclusion that the elimination of the *corpus delicti* rule cannot be retroactively applied is consistent with prior decisions from the Supreme Court of Idaho in a related context.

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