Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-4-2011

State v. Nichols Respondent's Brief Dckt. 38123

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

A. Correct.

(Tr., p.112, Ls.17-23.) Defense counsel again objected on the basis of hearsay. (Tr., p.112, Ls.24-25.) The court overruled the objection, stating, "He's already testified to that." (Tr., p.113, Ls.1-2.) The prosecutor then resumed his line of questioning and asked the officer whether it was his "understanding that to be a runaway you have to be under 18 years of age," to which the officer responded, "Yes." (Tr., p.113, Ls.3-6.) Defense counsel again objected, and the court sustained the objection, stating, "I will strike the answer and the question. The jury is to disregard that. That's calling for a legal conclusion." (Tr., p.113, Ls.8-12.)

On appeal, Nichols argues that the district court erred by permitting Officer Fuentes to testify regarding K.F.'s status as a runaway, contending the evidence was offered and admitted solely for the hearsay purpose of establishing the truth of the matter asserted – "to show that K.F. was under the age of 18." (Appellant's brief, pp.18-19.) Nichols' argument fails on its premise, and is not properly before this Court on appeal, because Officer Fuentes'

testimony that he was told K.F. was a runaway is not, by itself, hearsay evidence of K.F.'s age, nor was the officer permitted to testify as to that issue.

Hearsay is "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." I.R.E. 801(c). The truth of the matter asserted in Officer Fuentes' statement that he was told K.F. was a runaway was just that – that K.F. was a runaway; the statement did not, by itself, assert any matter relating to K.F.'s age. Compare, State v. Boehner, 114 Idaho 311, 756 P.2d 1075 (Ct. App. 1988) (evidence that officers were told defendant "wanted to kill a cop" was inadmissible hearsay in trial for assault with intent commit a serious felony upon a law enforcement officer where only relevant purpose was to show that defendant actually held that desire). Although the state subsequently attempted in its questioning to extrapolate from the officer's testimony whether K.F.'s status as a runaway meant that she had to be under 18 years of age, it was not permitted to do so. The court sustained Nichols' objection, struck both the question and the officer's answer, and instructed the jury to disregard it. (Tr., p.113, Ls.3-12.) Because the officer's testimony regarding K.F.'s status as a runaway was not hearsay evidence of K.F.'s age, and because the court expressly precluded the officer from otherwise testifying to any matters pertaining to K.F.'s age, there is no adverse ruling to form the basis of Nichols' claim on appeal, much less any showing of error. See State v. Barnes, 133 ldaho 378, 384, 987 P.2d 290, 296 (1999) (quoting State v. Fisher, 123 Idaho 481, 485, 849 P.2d 942, 946 (1993)) (appellate court "will not 'review a trial

court's alleged error on appeal unless the record discloses an adverse ruling which forms the basis for an assignment of error.").

Even assuming an adverse ruling and error in the admission of Officer Fuentes' testimony concerning K.F.'s status as a runaway, such error was harmless. Where evidence is erroneously admitted, the test for determining if the error was harmless is "whether there is a reasonable possibility that the evidence complained of might have contributed to the conviction and that the court must be able to declare a belief that it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Jones, 125 Idaho 477, 488, 873 P.2d 122, 133 (1994) (quoting State v. Pizzuto, 119 Idaho 742, 762, 810 P.2d 680, 700 (1991)); see also State v. Zimmerman, 121 Idaho 971, 976, 829 P.2d 861, 865 (1992) (quoting State v. Sharp, 101 Idaho 498, 507, 616 P.2d 1034, 1043 (1980)) (to hold erroneous admission of evidence harmless, court must "'declare a belief, beyond a reasonable doubt, that there was no reasonable possibility that [the] evidence complained of contributed to the conviction") (brackets original). The State has the burden of demonstrating that an objected-to error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, ____, 245 P.3d 961, 974 (2010).

Application of the foregoing principles to the facts of this case shows that any error in the admission of Officer Fuentes' testimony was harmless. The state called three witnesses at trial, each one of whom testified at one point or another, without objection, that K.F. was a runaway. (See Tr., p.54, Ls.18-22 (K.F.'s adoptive mother testifying from personal knowledge that she reported

K.F. as a runaway); p.70, Ls.16-23 (Detective Larsen testifying without objection that he received a report from Officer Fuentes indicating that he had "located a runaway"); p.100, L. 22 – p.101, L.2 (Officer Fuentes testifying without objection that he responded to a dispatch regarding "a possible juvenile runaway"); p.107, L.19 - p.108, L.2 (Officer Fuentes testifying without objection that he "was told that [K.F.] was a runaway from the state of Washington").) In addition, K.F.'s adoptive mother, Melody Fairfax, testified as to K.F.'s date of birth (Tr., p.53, Ls.13-25) and, for the reasons set forth in Section II.C., supra, that testimony was properly admitted. Given the numerous un-objected to references to K.F.'s status as a runaway and the fact that K.F.'s own mother testified regarding K.F.'s age, there is no reasonable possibility that Officer Fuentes' objected-to testimony that K.F. was a runaway contributed to the jury's ultimate determination that K.F. was under 18 years of age. This is especially true since, almost immediately following that testimony, the district court specifically instructed the jury to disregard a question and answer concerning the age of a runway, generally. (Tr., p.113, Ls.3-12.) Presuming as this Court must that the jury followed that instruction, e.g., State v. Gomez, 151 Idaho 146, ____, 254 P.3d 47, 57 (Ct. App. 2011) (review denied 7/7/11); State v. Kilby, 130 Idaho 747, 751, 947 P.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1997), there is no reasonable possibility that the admission of the evidence caused the jury to convict Nichols on an improper basis. If there was error, it was harmless.

Nichols Has Failed To Show Fundamental Error In The Jury Instructions

A. Introduction

For the first time on appeal, Nichols argues that the district court erred by failing to properly instruct the jury regarding the elements of statutory rape. (Appellant's brief, pp.21-22.) He also argues that the court committed fundamental error by failing to *sua sponte* instruct the jury on *corpus delicti* and corroboration of his extrajudicial statements. (Appellant's brief, pp.23-24.) For the reasons set forth below, Nichols has failed to establish fundamental error with respect to either of his claims of instructional error and, as such, the claims are not reviewable for the first time on appeal.

B. Standard Of Review

Whether a jury was properly instructed is a question of law over which the appellate court exercises free review. State v. Draper, ____ P.3d ____, 2011 WL 4030069, *9 (Idaho, Sept. 13, 2011); State v. Pina, 149 Idaho 140, 147, 233 P.3d 71, 78 (2010) (citing State v. Young, 138 Idaho 370, 372, 64 P.3d 296, 298 (2002)). "An erroneous instruction will not constitute reversible error unless the instructions as a whole misled the jury or prejudiced a party." Draper, ____ P.3d at ____, 2011 WL 4030069 at *9 (quoting State v. Shackelford, 150 Idaho 355, ____, 247 P.3d 582, 600-01 (2010)).

C. <u>Nichols Has Failed To Carry His Burden Of Establishing Fundamental</u> Error With Respect To Either Of His Claims Of Instructional Error

"It is a fundamental tenet of appellate law that a proper and timely objection must be made in the trial court before an issue is preserved for appeal." State v. Carlson, 134 Idaho 389, 398, 3 P.3d 67, 76 (Ct. App. 2000). See also State v. Draper, ___ P.3d ___, 2011 WL 4030069, *9 (Idaho, Sept. 13, 2011) (citing State v. Sheahan, 139 Idaho 267, 277, 77 P.3d 956, 966 (2003)) ("An error generally is not reviewable if raised for the first time on appeal."). This same principle applies to alleged errors in jury instructions. See I.C.R. 30(b) ("No party may assign as error the giving of or failure to give an instruction unless the party objects thereto before the jury retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly the instruction to which the party objects and the grounds of the objection."). Absent a timely objection, the appellate courts of this state will only review an alleged error under the fundamental error doctrine. State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, _, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010).

Review under the fundamental error doctrine requires Nichols to demonstrate that each error he alleges: "(1) violates one or more of [his] unwaived constitutional rights; (2) plainly exists (without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision); and (3) was not harmless." Perry, 150 Idaho at ____, 245 P.3d at 980. Application of this three-prong test to Nichols' claims of instructional error shows that Nichols has failed to meet his burden.

1. <u>Nichols Has Failed To Show Fundamental Error In The Elements</u> Instruction For Statutory Rape

The district court instructed the jury that, to find Nichols guilty of statutory rape, it must find that the state proved each of the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt:

- 1. On or between the 1st day of August 2009 and the 21st day of August 2009
- 2. in the state of Idaho
- 3. the defendant TIMOTHY L. NICHOLS did penetrate the vaginal opening of K.F., a female person, and
- 4. K.F. was under the age of eighteen years of age.

(Jury Instruction No. 13 (Augmentation).)

Nichols did not object to this instruction below but argues on appeal that it was erroneous because it failed to instruct the jury that the penetration of K.F.'s vaginal opening had to be accomplished with Nichols' penis. (Appellant's brief, pp.21-22.) Nichols contends that, because I.C. § 18-6101(1) (2009) defined statutory rape as the "penetration, however slight, of the oral, anal or vaginal opening with the perpetrator's penis accomplished with a female who is under the age of 18," the omission of the "with the perpetrator's penis" language from the elements instruction relieved the state of its burden of proving a statutory element and amounted to fundamental error. (Appellant's brief, pp.21-22.) Nichols is incorrect.

The state acknowledges that, had an objection been raised below, it would have been error for the district court not to have altered the instruction to match the statutory language. Nichols has failed to show that the failure of the

district court to *sua sponte* correct the instruction to reflect the statutory language rose to the level of fundamental error, however, because he has failed to show either that the error was clear on the record or that he was prejudiced thereby. See Perry, 150 Idaho at ____, 245 P.3d at 980. In other words, Nichols has failed to show that the error in the instruction actually relieved the state of its burden of proving all of the elements of statutory rape beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Draper, ____ P.3d at ____, 2011 WL 4030069 at *10 (a jury instruction that relieves the state of its duty to prove the essential elements of a crime violates due process and rises to the level of fundamental error).

As set forth above, a party seeking appellate review of an unpreserved issue pursuant to the fundamental error doctrine must show that the alleged error is "clear or obvious, without the need for any additional information not contained in the appellate record, including information as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision." Perry, 150 Idaho at ____, 245 P.3d at 980 (parenthesis omitted). Nichols argues that defense counsel's failure to object to the omission of the "with the perpetrator's penis" language from the elements instruction could not have been the product of trial strategy because "Nichols pleaded not guilty, thereby putting each and every element of the charged offense at issue in his trial" and, "[i]n such cases, there is no tactical advantage to be gained from excusing the State of its burden of proof." (Appellant's brief, p.22 (citation omitted).) Nichols' argument is unpersuasive, however, because it ignores both the state of the evidence and the defense's theory in this case.

Nichols advanced two theories at trial: (1) he did not have sexual intercourse with K.F., and (2) even if he did, K.F. was not under the age of 18. (See generally, Tr., p.150, L.16 – p.156, L.154, L.23.) With respect to the first theory, Nichols argued to the jury that the admissions he made during his police interview were not corroborated and were otherwise not necessarily reliable because they were "extracted in a windowless room" and Nichols may have been pressured to make them. (Tr., p.152, Ls.5-16, p.154, Ls.13-23.) However, he never contested the fact that, if the sexual intercourse happened, it happened in the only manner he confessed, i.e., "penis and vaginal-style sex." (Tr., p.88, L.20 - p.89, L.8.) Nor was there any evidence from which the jury could conclude that Nichols penetrated K.F.'s vaginal opening with anything other than his penis. The only evidence the state presented with respect to the penetration element of statutory rape consisted of Nichols' admission that he and K.F. engaged in "penis and vaginal-style sex." (Id.) Given the dearth of evidence establishing any other form of vaginal penetration, it is unsurprising that defense counsel would choose not to object to the court's elements instruction. Even if counsel had deemed the instruction technically erroneous for failing to include the statutory "with the perpetrator's penis" language, counsel may have deliberately chosen to forego objecting for any number of reasons, including counsel's determination that the omitted language did not relieve the state of its burden of proof because there was no evidence from which the jury could find the vaginal penetration by means other than Nichols' penis. Nichols has failed to show that the error he claims plainly exists on the record.

For similar reasons, Nichols has also failed to carry his burden of establishing the third prong of the fundamental error standard, which requires him to demonstrate that the error he asserts was not harmless. Perry, 150 Idaho at ____, 245 P.3d at 980. The Idaho Supreme Court has recently reiterated the standard for harmless error applicable to claims that a jury instruction omitted an element of a charged offense as follows:

[W]here the jury instructions were only partially erroneous, such as where the jury instructions improperly omitted one element of a charged offense, the appellate court may apply the harmless error test, and where the evidence supporting a finding on the omitted element is overwhelming and uncontroverted, so that no rational jury could have found that the state failed to prove that element, the constitutional violation may be deemed harmless.

<u>Draper</u>, ____ P.3d at ____, 2011 WL 4030069 at *13-14 (quoting <u>Perry</u>, 150 Idaho at ____, 245 P.3d at 976). <u>See also Neder v. United States</u>, 527 U.S. 1, 17 (1999) ("[W]here a reviewing court concludes beyond a reasonable doubt that the omitted element was uncontested and supported by overwhelming evidence, such that the jury verdict would have been the same absent the error, the erroneous instruction is properly found to be harmless."). For the reasons set forth in the preceding paragraph, and incorporated herein by reference, application of this standard to the facts of this case shows that the error in the omission of the "with the perpetrator's penis" language from the elements instruction was harmless. Nichols never contested that, if he penetrated K.F.'s vaginal opening, he did so in the only manner supported by the evidence, *i.e.*, with his penis. Because the element was uncontested, and because there was no evidence from which the jury could find that Nichols penetrated K.F.'s vaginal

opening with anything other than his penis, this Court can conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that the jury verdict would have been the same even absent the error. Nichols has failed to carry his burden of establishing that the error was not harmless. His claim of instructional error, raised for the first time on appeal, therefore fails.

2. Nichols Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Committed Fundamental Error By Failing To Sua Sponte Give A Corpus Delicti Instruction

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